
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

MARSHALL DIVISION 

 
CHAPTERHOUSE, LLC, 

 
 Plaintiff 

 
  v. 

 
SHOPIFY, INC., 

 
 Defendant 
 

 
 

Case No. 2:18-cv-00300 
 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Chapterhouse, LLC (“Chapterhouse”) hereby asserts the following claims for 

patent infringement against Defendant Shopify, Inv. (“Defendant” or “Shopify”), and alleges, on 

information and belief, as follows: 

THE PARTIES 

1. Chapterhouse is a limited liability company organized and existing under the laws of the 

Texas with its principal place of business at 17330 Preston Road, Suite 200, Dallas, Texas 75252. 

2. Defendant is a Canadian company with a principal address at 150 Elgin Street 8th Floor, 

Ottawa, ON K2P 1L4, Canada.   

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

3. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1, et seq.  This 

Court has subject matter jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

4. On information and belief, the Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant because 

Defendant has committed, and continues to commit, acts of infringement in the state of Texas, has 
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conducted business in the state of Texas, and/or has engaged in continuous and systematic 

activities in the state of Texas. 

5. On information and belief, Defendant’s instrumentalities that are alleged herein to infringe 

were and continue to be used, imported, offered for sale, and/or sold in the Eastern District of 

Texas. 

6. Venue is proper in the Eastern District of Texas pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(c) because 

Defendant is not a resident in the United States.  In re HTC Corp., No. 2018-130, 2018 (Fed. Cir. 

May 9, 2018). 

SHOPIFY 

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant Shopify makes, uses, imports, sells, and/or offers 

for sale an ecommerce platform system (“System”).  The System is described by the Shopify 

website (www.shopify.com) and is exemplified by the following references: 

 “API Announcement: Shopify’s Growing, and So are Our Integers! – Shopify 
Engineering” (“API”), available at 
https://shopifyengineering.myshopify.com/blogs/archived/17489016-api-announcement-
shopifys-growing-and-so-are-our-integers (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Best Ecommerce Platform in India | Custom Ecommerce Software for Your Needs | 
Shopify” (“ecommerce Platform”), available at  
https://www.shopify.in/?ref=easytravelr (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Dribble – shopify-pos-order.png by Nick Looijmans” (“Dribble”), available at 
https://dribbble.com/shots/1457266-Shopify-POS-Orders-redesign/attachments/216058 
(last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Exporting to a CSV file – Orders – Shopify Help Center” (“Exporting”), available at 
https://help.shopify.com/manual/orders/export-orders (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Get More Sales with These 5 Email Receipt Marketing Tactics” (“Marketing Tactics”), 

available at https://www.shopify.com/blog/18058812-get-more-sales-with-these-5-
email-receipt-marketing-tactics (last accessed July 5, 2018); 
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  “New order notification – Notifications – Shopify Help Center” (“New Order 
Notifications”), available at https://help.shopify.com/manual/sell-
online/notifications/order-notifications (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Notification variables reference – Notifications – Shopify Help Center” 
(“Notifications”), available at https://help.shopify.com/manual/sell-
online/notifications/email-variables (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Order – Orders – Shopify Help Center” (“Orders”), available at 
https://help.shopify.com/api/reference/orders/order (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Orders – Using Shopify – Shopify Help Center” (“Using Shopify“), available at 
https://help.shopify.com/manual/orders (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Sales – Reports – Shopify Help Center” (“Sales Reports”), available at 
https://help.shopify.com/manual/reports-and-analytics/shopify-reports/report-types/sales-
report (last accessed June 19, 2018); 

 “Spently – Sell More with Custom Email Notifications” (“Spently“), available at 

https://apps.shopify.com/spently (last accessed July 5, 2018); and 

  “Web Server Information” (“Server Information”) available at 
http://browserspy.dk/webserver.php (last accessed June 19, 2018). 

COUNT I 
(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,552,087) 

8. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-7 herein by reference. 

9. Plaintiff is the owner, by assignment, of U.S. Patent No. 7,552,087 (the “’087 Patent”), 

entitled ELECTRONIC TRANSACTION RECEIPT SYSTEM AND METHOD, which issued on 

June 23, 2009.  A copy of the ’087 Patent is attached as Exhibit A. 

10. The ’087 Patent is valid, enforceable, and was duly issued in full compliance with Title 35 

of the United States Code. 

11. Upon information and belief, Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe one or 

more claims, including Claim 1, of the ’087 Patent by making, using, importing, selling, and/or, 

offering for sale the System covered by one or more claims of the ’087 Patent.  Defendant has 
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infringed and continues to infringe the ’087 Patent either directly or through the acts of 

contributory infringement or inducement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271.  Defendant has been on 

notice of the ’087 Patent at least as early as the date it received service of this complaint. 

12. Defendant sells, offers to sell, and/or uses the System, known as Shopify POS, and any 

similar products, which infringe at least Claim 1 of the ’087 Patent. 

13. Claim 1 of the ’087 Patent recites: 

1.  A system for generating de-identified electronic receipts, comprising:  

a.  a database for storing a plurality of sales transactions between a plurality of buyers 

and a plurality of sellers, wherein each of the plurality of sales transactions includes 

an identity of one of the plurality of buyers; 

b.  an electronic receipt generator for:  

i.  generating an electronic receipt for each of the plurality of sales 

transactions, wherein each electronic receipt comprises detailed data 

describing the sales transaction, including sale price, total transaction 

amount, item description, and information indicating completion of the 

sales transaction; and 

ii.  generating de-identified data from each of the electronic receipts, wherein 

the de-identified data describes each of the plurality of sales transactions, 

but does not personally identify any one of the plurality of buyers. 

14. The Shopify System is a system for generating de-identified electronic receipts. See, e.g., 

Server Information; and Sales Reports.  An example is illustrated below: 
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ecommerce Platform. 

 

Sales Reports. 
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15. The Shopify System includes a database (e.g. MySQL) that stores a plurality of sales 

transactions (e.g. transaction history, order and product information) between a plurality of buyers 

and sellers.  Each of these stored sales transactions includes an identity to one of the buyers. See, 

e.g., API; Orders; and Using Shopify.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

API. 

 

Orders. 
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Id. 

 

Id. 

 

Id. 
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Using Shopify. 

16. The Shopify System includes an electronic receipt generator.  See, e.g., Dribble.  An 

example is illustrated below: 

 

Dribble. 

17. The System generates an electronic receipt for each of the plurality of sales transactions, 

wherein each electronic receipt comprises detailed data describing the sales transaction including 

the sales price, transaction amount, item description and information indicating completion of the 

sales transaction.  See, e.g., Dribble.  An example is illustrated below: 
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Dribble. 

18. The System generates de-identified data from each of the electronic receipts. The de-

identified data describes each of the sales transactions but does not personally identify any one of 

the buyers.  See, e.g., Sales Reports.  An example is illustrated below: 
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Sales Reports. 

19. Plaintiff has been damaged by Defendant’s infringement of the ’087 Patent. 

COUNT II 
(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,742,989) 

20. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-7 herein by reference. 

21. Plaintiff is the owner, by assignment, of U.S. Patent No. 7,742,989 (the “’989 Patent”), 

entitled DIGITAL RECEIPT GENERATION FROM INFORMTION ELECTRONICALLY 

READ FROM PRODUCT, which issued on June 22, 2010.  A copy of the ’989 Patent is attached 

as Exhibit B. 
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22. The ’989 Patent is valid, enforceable, and was duly issued in full compliance with Title 35 

of the United States Code. 

23. Upon information and belief, Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe one or 

more claims, including Claim 1, of the ’989 Patent by making, using, importing, selling, and/or, 

offering for sale the System covered by one or more claims of the ’989 Patent.  Defendant has 

infringed and continues to infringe the ’989 Patent either directly or through the acts of 

contributory infringement or inducement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271. Defendant has been on 

notice of the ’989 Patent at least as early as the date it received service of this complaint. 

24. Defendant sells, offers to sell, and/or uses the System, known as Shopify POS, and any 

similar products, which infringe at least Claim 1 of the ’989 Patent. 

25. Claim 1 of the ’989 Patent recites: 

1.  A system for collecting product information, comprising:  

a.  a database for storing a plurality of sales transactions between a plurality of buyers 

and a plurality of sellers, wherein each of the plurality of sales transactions is 

associated with a product that is purchased by a buyer of the plurality of buyers 

from a seller of the plurality of sellers, and includes product information associated 

with the product; 

b.  a device for collecting selected product information directly from a selected 

product, wherein the selected product is associated with a selected sales transaction; 

and 

c.  a processor for:  

i.  storing the selected product information and selected sales transaction in the 

database, as one of the plurality of sales transactions; and 
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ii.  transmitting the selected product information to the seller associated with 

the selected sales transaction. 

26. The Shopify System is a system for collecting product information.  See, e.g., ecommerce 

Platform; and Notifications.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

ecommerce Platform. 
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Notifications. 

27. The Shopify System includes a database (e.g. MySQL) for storing a plurality of sales 

transactions (e.g. transaction history, order, and product related information) between a plurality 

of buyers and a plurality of sellers, wherein each of the plurality of sales transactions is associated 

with a product that is purchased by a buyer of the plurality of buyers from a seller of the plurality 

of sellers, and includes product information associated with the product.  See, e.g., API; Orders; 

and Using Shopify.  An example is illustrated below: 
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API. 

 

Orders. 

Case 2:18-cv-00300   Document 1   Filed 07/20/18   Page 14 of 38 PageID #:  14



COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT  PAGE | 15 

 

Id. 

 

Id. 

 

Using Shopify. 
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28. The Shopify System includes a server for collecting selected product information directly 

from a selected product, wherein the selected product is associated with a selected sales 

transaction.  See, e.g., Server Information; and Orders.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

Server Information. 

 

Orders. 
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29. The Shopify System includes a server that has a processor for storing the selected product 

information and selected sales transaction in the database, as one of the plurality of sales 

transactions (e.g. order).  See, e.g., Server Information; Orders; and Dribble.  An example is 

illustrated below: 

 

Server Information. 

 

Orders. 
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Dribble. 

30. The Shopify System includes a server that has a processor for transmitting the selected 

product information to the seller associated with the selected sales transaction (e.g. a notification 

when a new order is placed).  See, e.g., Server Information; New Order Notifications; and 

Notifications.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

Server Information. 
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New Order Notifications. 

 

Id. 

 

Notifications. 

 

Id. 
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Id. 

31. Plaintiff has been damaged by Defendant’s infringement of the ’989 Patent. 

32. COUNT III 
(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,112,356) 

33. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-7 herein by reference. 

34. Plaintiff is the owner, by assignment, of U.S. Patent No. 8,112,356 (the “’356 Patent”), 

entitled SYSTEM AND METHOD FOR PROVIDING AUTOMATED SECONDARY 

PURCHASE OPPORTUNITIES TO CONSUMERS, which issued on February 7, 2012.  A copy 

of the ’356 Patent is attached as Exhibit C. 

35. The ’356 Patent is valid, enforceable, and was duly issued in full compliance with Title 35 

of the United States Code. 

36. Upon information and belief, Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe one or 

more claims, including Claim 1, of the ’356 Patent by making, using, importing, selling, and/or, 

offering for sale the System covered by one or more claims of the ’356 Patent.  Defendant has 

infringed and continues to infringe the ’356 Patent either directly or through the acts of 

contributory infringement or inducement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271. Defendant has been on 

notice of the ’356 Patent at least as early as the date it received service of this complaint. 
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37. Defendant sells, offers to sell, and/or uses the System, known as Shopify POS, and any 

similar products, which infringe at least Claim 1 of the ’356 Patent. 

38. Claim 1 of the ’087 Patent recites: 

1.  A system for providing an automated secondary purchase opportunity to a user, 

comprising:  

a.  a database for storing a plurality of primary sales transactions between a plurality 

of buyers and a plurality of sellers; 

b.  an electronic receipt generator for:  

i.  generating an electronic receipt for a selected one of the plurality of primary 

sales transactions associated with the user, wherein the electronic receipt 

comprises data describing the selected primary sales transaction, and the 

electronic receipt further includes a hyperlink associated with an 

inducement for a secondary purchase, the secondary purchase being 

commercially related to the selected primary sales transaction; 

ii.  transmitting the electronic receipt to a computing device operated by the 

user; 

iii.  receiving from the computer device a signal that the user has activated the 

hyperlink within the electronic receipt; and 

iv.  in response to the activation of the hyperlink, initiating a sales transaction 

relating to the secondary purchase. 

39. The Shopify System is an eCommerce system for providing an automated secondary 

purchase opportunity to a user. See, e.g., ecommerce Platform.  An example is illustrated below: 
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ecommerce Platform. 

40. The Shopify System employs a database (e.g. MySQL) to store a plurality of sales 

transactions (e.g. transaction history, order and product information) between a plurality of buyers 

and sellers. See, e.g., API; Orders; and Using Shopify.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

API. 
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Orders. 

 

Id. 

41. The Shopify System includes an electronic receipt generator.  See, e.g., Dribble.  An 

example is illustrated below: 
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Dribble. 

42. The System is operable to generate an electronic receipt for each of the plurality of sales 

transactions, wherein each electronic receipt comprises detailed data describing the sales 

transaction including the sales price, transaction amount, item description and information 

indicating completion of the sales transaction.  See, e.g., Dribble.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

43. Dribble. 
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44. With the integrated Spently app, the electronic receipt may further comprise a hyperlink 

associated with an inducement for a secondary purchase. The secondary purchase is commercially 

related to the selected primary sales transaction.  See, e.g., Marketing Tactics; and Spently.  An 

example is illustrated below: 

 

Marketing Tactics. 

 

Spently. 
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Id. 

45. The Shopify System is operable to transmit the electronic receipt to a computing device 

operated by the user.  See, e.g., Spently.  An example is illustrated below: 
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Spently. 

46. The Shopify System is operable to receive a signal that the user has activated the hyperlink 

within the electronic receipt.  See, e.g., Spently.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

Spently. 

47. In response to the activation of the hyperlink, Shopify is operable to initiate a sales 

transaction relating to the secondary purchase.  See, e.g., Spently.  An example is illustrated below: 
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Spently. 

48. Plaintiff has been damaged by Defendant’s infringement of the ’356 Patent. 

COUNT IV 
(Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,606,698) 

49. Plaintiff incorporates paragraphs 1-7 herein by reference. 

50. Plaintiff is the owner, by assignment, of U.S. Patent No. 8,606,698 (the “’698 Patent”), 

entitled ELECTRONIC TRANSACTION RECEIPT SYSTEM AND METHOD, which issued on 

December 10, 2013.  A copy of the ’698 Patent is attached as Exhibit D. 
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51. The ’698 Patent is valid, enforceable, and was duly issued in full compliance with Title 35 

of the United States Code. 

52. Upon information and belief, Defendant has infringed and continues to infringe one or 

more claims, including Claim 1, of the ’698 Patent by making, using, importing, selling, and/or, 

offering for sale the System covered by one or more claims of the ’698 Patent.  Defendant has 

infringed and continues to infringe the ’698 Patent either directly or through the acts of 

contributory infringement or inducement in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271. Defendant has been on 

notice of the ’698 Patent at least as early as the date it received service of this complaint. 

53. Defendant sells, offers to sell, and/or uses the System, known as Shopify POS, and any 

similar products, which infringe at least Claim 1 of the ’698 Patent. 

54. Claim 1 of the ’698 Patent recites: 

1.  A system for storing transaction receipts associated with a plurality of sellers and a 

plurality of buyers, comprising:  

a database; 

a device for:  

receiving from a particular seller of the plurality of sellers a transaction receipt 

associated with a transaction that has occurred between a particular buyer of the 

plurality of buyers and the particular seller; 

storing the transaction receipt in the database as one of a plurality of transaction 

receipts between the plurality of buyers and the plurality of sellers; 

receiving a request from a requester to transmit a selected one of the plurality of 

transaction receipts; and 

transmitting the selected one of the plurality of transaction receipts to the requester. 
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55. The Shopify System is a system for storing transaction receipts associated with a plurality 

of sellers and a plurality of buyers.  See, e.g., ecommerce Platform; and API. 

56. An example is illustrated below: 

 

ecommerce Platform. 

57. The Shopify System includes a database (e.g. MySQL). See, e.g., API.  An example is 

illustrated below: 

 

API. 

58. The Shopify System includes a device (e.g. server) for receiving from a particular seller of 

the plurality of sellers a transaction receipt associated with a transaction that has occurred between 

a particular buyer of the plurality of buyers and the particular seller.  See, e.g., Server 

Information; Using Shopify; and Orders.  An example is illustrated below: 
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Server Information. 

 

Using Shopify. 
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Orders. 

59. The Shopify System includes a device (e.g. server) for storing the transaction receipt in the 

database as one of a plurality of transaction receipts between the plurality of buyers and the 

plurality of sellers (e.g. by issuing unique IDs corresponding to individual transactions).  See, e.g., 

Server Information; and API.  An example is illustrated below: 

 

Server Information. 
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API. 

60. The Shopify System includes a device (e.g. server) for receiving a request from a requester 

to transmit a selected one of the plurality of transaction receipts.  See, e.g., Server Information; 

API; Orders; and Dribble.  An example is illustrated below:  

 

Server Information. 

 

API. 
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Orders. 

 

Id. 

Case 2:18-cv-00300   Document 1   Filed 07/20/18   Page 34 of 38 PageID #:  34



COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT  PAGE | 35 

 

Dribble. 

61. The Shopify System includes a device (e.g. server) for transmitting the selected one of the 

plurality of transaction receipts to the requester.  See, e.g., Server Information; and Exporting.  

An example is illustrated below: 

 

Server Information. 
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Exporting. 

 

Id. 
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62. Plaintiff has been damaged by Defendant’s infringement of the ’698 Patent. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court enter judgment against 

Defendant: 

1. declaring that the Defendant has infringed the ’087 Patent; 

2. awarding Plaintiff its damages suffered as a result of Defendant’s infringement of 

the ’087 Patent; 

3. declaring that the Defendant has infringed the ’989 Patent; 

4. awarding Plaintiff its damages suffered as a result of Defendant’s infringement of 

the ’989 Patent; 

5. declaring that the Defendant has infringed the ’356 Patent; 

6. awarding Plaintiff its damages suffered as a result of Defendant’s infringement of 

the ’356 Patent; 

7. declaring that the Defendant has infringed the ’698 Patent; 

8. awarding Plaintiff its damages suffered as a result of Defendant’s infringement of 

the ’698 Patent; 

9. awarding Plaintiff its costs, attorneys’ fees, expenses, and interest; and 

10. granting Plaintiff such further relief as the Court finds appropriate. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff demands trial by jury, Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 38. 

Case 2:18-cv-00300   Document 1   Filed 07/20/18   Page 37 of 38 PageID #:  37



COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT  PAGE | 38 

Dated:  July 20, 2018 Respectfully Submitted 

/s/ Raymond W. Mort, III   
Raymond W. Mort, III 
Texas State Bar No. 00791308 
raymort@austinlaw.com 
 
THE MORT LAW FIRM, PLLC 
106 E. Sixth Street, Suite 900 
Austin, Texas 78701 
Tel/Fax: (512) 865-7950 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF  
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